# Knowledge Transfer and Exchange Among the Nonprofit Organizations Funded by the Knowledge Development Centre and the Community Support Centre, 2002-2005

March 2007

Fataneh Zarinpoush
Shirley Von Sychowski
Julie Sperling
Danielle Li



#### ©2007, Imagine Canada

Copyright of Knowledge Transfer and Exchange Among Nonprofit Organizations is waived for nonprofit and voluntary organizations for non-commercial use.

Imagine Canada 425 University Avenue, Suite 900 Toronto, Ontario M5G 1T6 Tel.: (416) 597-2293

Fax: (416) 597-2294 www.imaginecanada.ca

ISBN: 1-55401-353-4

# Acknowledgements

This study was made possible by the nonprofit organizations that participated in our study. These organizations were funded by either the Knowledge Development Centre or the Community Support Centre between 2002 and 2005 to do research or carry out pilot and demonstration projects on volunteerism. They also conducted various knowledge transfer and exchange activities, which is what prompted us to design this study. The authors sincerely appreciate the participation of these organizations and their willingness to share their experiences with others.

The authors are also grateful to Michael Hall of Imagine Canada for his guidance and for reviewing this report and providing valuable comments that significantly improved this work.

This study was funded by The Community Support Centre, part of the Canada Volunteerism Initiative (CVI) of the Department of Canadian Heritage.

# **Table of Contents**

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
INTRODUCTION	6
METHODOLOGY	8
FINDINGS	9
Knowledge Transfer and Exchange Activities	9
Creating the Conditions for Knowledge Transfer and Exchange  Knowledge Transfer  Knowledge Exchange	13
Outcomes of Knowledge Transfer and Exchange	16
Challenges in Knowledge Transfer and Exchange	19
CONCLUSION	21
CASE STUDIES OF KNOWLEDGE TRANSFER & EXCHANGE	23
Case One: Make Connections	23
Case Two: Package Knowledge in Different Format	23
Case Three: Engage Your Audience	25
Case Four: Use Knowledge to Expand Volunteerism	26
Case Five: Use the Feedback	27
APPENDIX A: SURVEY OF CVI PREVIOUSLY FUNDED PROJECTS	29
APPENDIX B: INTERVIEW GUIDE FOR CVI PREVIOUSI Y FUNDED PROJE	CTS 33

# **List of Tables**

Table 1: Participants by funder and funding year	9
Table 2: Types of information resources or products produced by participated organizations	10
Table 3: Methods used to promote information resources or products	11
Table 4: Methods of distributing information resources or products	12
Table 5: Methods used to transfer knowledge	14
Table 6: Methods used to exchange knowledge	16

# **Executive Summary**

Nowadays, it is generally recognized that merely developing knowledge is not enough; there must also be mechanisms to let that knowledge move among organizations and individuals who can interpret it and put it to use. This report explores the knowledge transfer and exchange practices of nonprofit organizations in Canada and the effectiveness of these practices.

Knowledge transfer and exchange is defined as *a set of activities and approaches that are undertaken to move knowledge among those who need that knowledge or have an interest in it.* This movement may involve a one-way flow of knowledge from the developer to practitioners (i.e., knowledge transfer) or a two-way flow among developers and practitioners, recognizing that knowledge is not the sole domain of any one actor in a system (i.e., knowledge exchange).

Between 2002 and 2007, a tremendous amount of knowledge on volunteerism was developed through the funding programs of two centres of the Canada Volunteerism Initiative (CVI): the Knowledge Development Centre (KDC) and the Community Support Centre (CSC). Together, these two centres funded 111 projects and developed more than 120 information resources and products. This report outlines the findings of a study undertaken by Imagine Canada to examine the efforts that these KDC- and CSC-funded organizations made to promote, transfer, exchange, and use the knowledge they developed and to assess the results of these efforts.

This study examines the knowledge transfer and exchange activities of 90 organizations that were funded between November 2002 and March 2006. The first phase of the study consisted of an online survey that gathered initial information about the knowledge transfer and exchange activities of these organizations. The second phase consisted of interviews with 20 organizations whose responses to the survey indicated that they had carried out significant knowledge transfer and exchange activities.

The nonprofit organizations that participated in our research had carried out various types of activities to transfer, exchange, or just distribute their knowledge. These activities were particularly different in terms of giving weight to one of the key elements of knowledge transfer and exchange that has been extensively discussed in the literature: audience. In this report, we employed this element to categorize the activities that organizations conducted. For example, we looked at the aspects such as having targeted audience, defining audience, or the level of contact with audience. Therefore, we grouped the organizations' activities in three: Group One activities are to create conditions for knowledge transfer and exchange such as promotion, distribution and development of information resources and products; Group Two activities are about knowledge transfer and include presentations and publications; and Group Three activities focus on knowledge exchange and include workshops, discussion meetings, and training sessions.

Overall, the organizations that participated in our study were more likely to have carried out activities that created the conditions for knowledge transfer and exchange and that transferred knowledge than they were to have carried out activities that allowed for the exchange of knowledge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See F., Zarinpoush, S., Von Sychowski, & J. Sperling (2007), *Effective Knowledge Transfer and Exchange: A Framework*, for more details.

In each group of activities, some methods were more common than others. Most organizations developed multiple resources to reach a large number of potential users. Use of local media for promotion and making information resources and products available at various events for distribution were the most common methods. The least common methods for promotion and distribution were webcast, word of mouth, and developing promotional items. To transfer knowledge, stand-alone presentations occurred more frequently than presentations as part of other events. Webinar was the least reported method. For knowledge exchange, workshop was the most reported method and on-site visits and mentoring were the least common methods.

When investigating the effectiveness of these activities, organizations pointed to some tips that can lead other organizations to effective knowledge transfer and exchange. Tips included: packaging knowledge in different format; preparing multiple information resources; having both paper and electronic versions of information resources and products. Also, the use of local media for promotion and use of other events for distribution could be considered as they are easy to do and inexpensive. Most of the tips for effective knowledge transfer were about knowing the audience: understanding the audience's level, language and expectations are crucial. The method of transfer should also be easily accessible and familiar to audience and encourage their participation.

The tips on conducting knowledge exchange were mainly about creating an environment conducive to audience engagement. Facilitating audience participation in activities and reflection on their knowledge and experiences, providing opportunities for them to be heard, and exposing them to various perspectives and real-life experience were some tips for effective knowledge exchange.

Organizations were most likely to report immediate outcomes that they observed at the knowledge transfer or exchange activities or shortly thereafter. The immediate outcomes included increased awareness, changed motivations and attitudes, and increased demand for knowledge. The outcomes that took longer to appear were increased volunteerism and improved practices.

The findings of our study suggest that, once knowledge is developed, there are great opportunities to use it inside the organization to improve practices. The organizations were able to list a variety of ways they used the knowledge they gained. Although organizations provided some examples of external use of knowledge and its effects, the information was limited and anecdotal. Gathering informal feedback was commonly reported. Indeed, lack of follow-up mechanisms to systematically gather information and measure the impact of their work was clearly a challenge that the organizations faced when doing knowledge transfer and exchange.

Lack of time and longer financial support to better plan and perform activities are other barriers of knowledge transfer and exchange, which limited organizations to properly train their audience to apply the newly developed knowledge. These barriers particularly affect activities related to knowledge exchange, since exchanging knowledge occurs through a process and requires follow-up mechanisms, time, and financial support to communicate with the audience, gather feedback, train the users, and observe changes in practices.

Our study helped us to better understand the nature and effectiveness of the knowledge transfer and exchange activities that are being carried out in the nonprofit sector. We conclude this report by presenting five case studies, each of which highlights some key elements of successful knowledge transfer and exchange. These include: making connections (Case One), having multiple resources and products to reach a wide variety of audiences (Case Two), knowing audience and planning accordingly (Case Three), how to use knowledge to expand volunteerism (Case Four), and the importance of feedback (Case Five).

5

#### Introduction

Knowledge transfer and exchange is getting more and more attention in business, government, and the nonprofit sector. It is generally recognized that merely developing or gaining knowledge is not enough; there must also be mechanisms to let that knowledge move among organizations and individuals who can then interpret it and put it to use. But what are Canadian nonprofit organizations doing to address knowledge transfer and exchange?

Between 2002 and 2007, a tremendous amount of knowledge on volunteerism was developed through the funding programs of two centres of the Canada Volunteerism Initiative (CVI): the Knowledge Development Centre (KDC) and the Community Support Centre (CSC). These two centres were created to build on the body of knowledge on volunteers and volunteerism in Canada and to develop and test innovative methods for sustaining volunteerism. KDC and CSC were also charged with promoting the effective transfer of this newly developed knowledge to voluntary organizations to assist them with their work and to enrich the experiences of volunteers in Canada.

This report presents the findings from a study undertaken by Imagine Canada to understand the efforts made by KDC- and CSC-funded organizations to transfer, exchange and use their newly developed knowledge and to assess the results of these efforts. The report also explores the common knowledge transfer and exchange practices used by these organizations.

For the purposes of our research, we define knowledge transfer and exchange as a set of activities and approaches that are undertaken to move knowledge among those who need that knowledge or have an interest in it. This movement may take two approaches. It may involve primarily a one-way flow of knowledge from the knowledge developer to practitioners (i.e., knowledge transfer), or can involve a two-way flow among knowledge developers and practitioners (i.e., knowledge exchange) recognizing that knowledge is not the sole domain of any one actor in a system.

Altogether, KDC and CSC funded 111 projects. As funding agencies, the centres reviewed the processes that organizations took to develop knowledge and their information resources. Organizations funded by KDC were required to prepare a report and one or two fact sheets, and organizations funded by CSC were required to submit a final comprehensive report.

The funded agencies also took part in distributing the information resources that organizations developed. KDC funded 62<sup>3</sup> research projects and published 102 information resources and products, all of which are available in French and English and in both print and electronic formats (see <a href="http://www.kdc-cdc.ca">http://www.kdc-cdc.ca</a>). CSC funded 49 pilot and demonstration projects and selected about 20 products to be distributed electronically in English and French (see <a href="http://www.volunteer.ca/resource">http://www.volunteer.ca/resource</a>).

Our study examined the knowledge transfer and exchange activities of KDC- and CSC-funded organizations to answer the following questions:

• What types of knowledge transfer and exchange activities were being carried out by the nonprofit organizations?

<sup>3</sup> Including eleven projects funded in 2006-2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CSC was operated by Volunteer Canada in partnership with Imagine Canada, and KDCwas operated by Imagine Canada.

- What tips and advice would these organizations offer, which could increase the effectiveness of knowledge transfer and exchange activities?
- What types of outcomes did these organizations perceive, which could be expected from these activities?
- What challenges did these organizations face, which may be faced by other organizations as well?

In this report, we first explain the activities that organizations carried out to create conditions for the transfer and exchange of the knowledge they had developed, transfer that knowledge, and/or exchange that knowledge. We describe how these activities were carried out and offer some tips for doing them effectively. Next, we identify the outcomes of these activities as well as the challenges and barriers to knowledge transfer and exchange that these organizations experienced. Finally, we offer some concluding remarks followed by five case studies that highlight some of the key elements of successful knowledge transfer and exchange in the nonprofit sector.

# Methodology

Our study set out to examine the knowledge transfer and exchange activities carried out by organizations that were funded by  $KDC^4$  and  $CSC^5$  between November 2002 and March 2006.

We undertook the study in two phases. Phase I consisted of an online survey to gather initial information, and Phase II involved 20 interviews with organizations whose responses to the survey indicated they had undertaken significant knowledge transfer and exchange.

A total of 90 organizations received funding from KDC and CSC. Of these, we excluded 20 organizations that had not produced an information resource or product, whose phone number and address were no longer in service, or that did not have any staff to respond to our survey. We contacted the remaining 70 organizations by e-mail.

#### Phase I: The online survey

The purpose of the online survey was to gather some basic information about the knowledge transfer and exchange activities of KDC- and CSC-funded organizations and, from this, to select 20 organizations for interviews. The survey asked about activities carried out to promote, distribute, transfer, and exchange the knowledge that these organizations had developed through their funded projects.

The survey was carried out from November 7 to November 13, 2006. It contained 23 questions and took approximately 10 minutes to complete (see Appendix A). It was available in English and French. In total, 40 surveys were completed (see Table 1), for a response rate of 57%. Data were entered into SPSS software for analysis.

#### Phase II: The interviews

The purpose of the interviews was to gather in-depth information about the knowledge transfer and exchange activities of KDC- and CSC-funded organizations, the results of those activities, and the challenges the organizations faced as they carried out these activities. For these interviews, we selected 20 organizations that had completed the survey and reported significant knowledge transfer and exchange activities.

During interviews, we explored organizations' experiences with and opinions about knowledge transfer and exchange activities, the perceived effectiveness of those activities, the perceived outcomes, and the challenges these organizations faced (see Appendix B).

The interviews were conducted between November 20 and December 1, 2006. Each interview was one hour long, on average. Eighteen interviews were conducted in English and two in French. Ten of the organizations had been funded by CSC, nine had been funded by KDC, and one had received funding from both. Five organizations were affiliated with a school or post-secondary institution and the remaining were based in the communities. All interviews were audio recorded and transcribed. NVivo was used for data analyses.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> KDC funded 62 projects but this study considered 47 projects funded between 2002 and 2005. Of these 47 projects, 7 were funded in 2002, 12 in 2003, 11 in 2004, and 17 in 2005. Another 11 projects were funded in 2006-2007 and they were not complete at the time this study was done. KDC also funded four national projects internally, conducted by Imagine Canada, which were also excluded from this study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Of the 49 projects funded by CSC, 19 were funded in 2003, 15 in 2004, and 15 in 2005. CSC did not fund any projects in 2002 or 2006.

Table 1: Participants by funder and funding year

Year Funded	CSC Project	KDC Project	Total survey respondents	# Interviewed
2002	0	1	1	1
2003	7	4	11	5
2004	7	5	12	7
2005	8	8	16	8
Total	22	18	40	20

# **Findings**

This report describes the knowledge transfer and exchange activities carried out by 40 nonprofit organizations, the outcomes of those activities, and the barriers these organizations encountered. It also offers tips and advice that may be of use to others who are involved in knowledge transfer and exchange.

### Knowledge Transfer and Exchange Activities

The nonprofit organizations that participated in our research had carried out various types of activities to transfer, exchange, or just distribute their knowledge. These activities were particularly different in terms of giving weight to one of the key elements of knowledge transfer and exchange that has been extensively discussed in the literature: audience. In this report, we employed this element to categorize the activities that organizations conducted. For example, we looked at the aspects such as having targeted audience, defining audience, or the level of contact with audience. Therefore, we grouped the organizations' activities in three:

- Group One activities that create conditions for knowledge transfer and exchange, i.e., activities related to the development of information resources and those that promote and distribute information resources and products and raise awareness of the newly developed knowledge;
- Group Two knowledge transfer activities, i.e., activities that result in a one-way flow of knowledge from the knowledge developer to the intended audience through such means as presentations and publications; and
- Group Three knowledge exchange activities, i.e., activities that result in a two-way flow of knowledge between the knowledge developer and the intended audience, providing engagement and learning opportunities for both parties through such means as workshops, discussion meetings, and training sessions.

## Creating the Conditions for Knowledge Transfer and Exchange

Organizations reported some activities that create the conditions for effective knowledge transfer and exchange. These activities are resource development, promotion and distribution.

\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See F., Zarinpoush, S., Von Sychowski, & J. Sperling (2007), *Effective Knowledge Transfer and Exchange: A Framework*, for more details.

#### Activities

**Development of information resources:** Organizations prepared various types of information resources or products to be distributed or used for knowledge transfer and exchange. The most common information resources produced were research reports, reported by 63% of organizations (see Table 2). The next most common resources were fact sheets (48%) and surveys or questionnaires (48%). This is perhaps not surprising given that one of the funding bodies, KDC, required funded organizations to produce a research report and one or two fact sheets.

Research reports, however, were not the only resources or products. Among the 24 organizations that said they developed reports, 92% had also developed other information resources such as fact sheets (54%), manuals (46%), and workshop materials (46%). Also, among all organizations, 92% prepared multiple information recourses.

Information collected through our interviews suggests that having more than one type of information resource or product can broaden the audience for newly developed knowledge<sup>7</sup>:

"...having the research itself as a resource and having the DVD as a resource really complement each other. The research gives validity to what we're doing to a group of administrators, academics, and government representatives in a way the DVD doesn't. The DVD works as a how-to for other communities [...], it speaks to them in a way that the research wouldn't."

Another organization said how multiple resources completed their transfer knowledge activity:

They [audience] saw the fact sheet as a way to spread the basic information, and the manual as a more in-depth yet manageable version to follow up with.

The least common types of information resource or product were databases or maps (5%) and videos or software (3%).

Table 2: Types of information resources or products produced by participated organizations

Information Resources and Products	Percentage
Research report	63
Fact sheet	48
Survey or questionnaire	48
Form and screening tool	25
Training material	25
Manual, handbook, or guide	24
Workshop material	14
Tool kit	13
Website or telephone line	13
Tip sheet	8
Database or map	5
Video or software	3

Note: Percentages do not add to 100 because multiple products were reported by many projects.

Imagine Canada, 2007

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Case Two: "Package Knowledge in Different Format" for the full story.

**Promotion:** Promotion lets people know about the newly created information resources or products and how they can be accessed. Most (92%) of the organizations that participated in our study used various methods to promote their knowledge and its related products.

Media releases were the most common method used to promote information resources; 40% of respondents reported that they had used this method (see Table 3). One organization reported that a media release generated more inquiries than any other method of promotion<sup>8</sup>:

"We printed articles in our bilingual community newsletter, in local Chinese newspapers, and talked on the radio to promote our new manual and our training. We found these are the most effective means to promote because they are free and people can access this very easily...We received inquiries from people who told us they had never heard about resources on domestic violence and also got calls from people who needed interpreters."

Other common promotion methods were brochures or flyers (used by 33% of respondents), e-mail or websites (25%), and promoting information resources at events such as conferences and seminars (20%). The least common methods were webcasts (8%), word of mouth (8%), and promotional items such as note-cards, t-shirts, or bottles (5%).

**Table 3: Methods used to promote information resources or products** 

Promotion Methods	% of Respondents
Media release	40
Brochures or flyers	33
E-mail or website	25
Promotion in an event	20
Workshop	18
E-bulletin or newsletter	10
Webcast	8
Word of mouth	8
Promotional items, e.g., note-cards, t-shirts, bottles	5

Note: Percentages do not add to 100 because some organizations reported using more than one method.

**Distribution:** Distribution gets the newly created information resources or products into the hands of others. Doing some forms of distribution and making information accessible is very common and many may consider this to be the final step of a research project rather than the first step of knowledge transfer. Almost all (95%) of the organizations that participated in our study had some mechanisms to distribute their information resources.

The most common distribution method, reported by 73% of respondents, was to make their information resources available at conferences, training sessions, and workshops (see Table 4). This may be because this method is easy and inexpensive and requires very little effort. More than half

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Case Four: "Use Knowledge to Expand Volunteerism" for the full story.

used online distribution methods such as e-mail (58%) and websites (55%), and less than half (48%) used the traditional method of mail-outs.

**Table 4: Methods of distributing information resources or products** 

Distribution Methods	% of Respondents
Distribution in events	73
E-mail	58
Website	55
Mail-outs	48
Telephone line	13
Workshop	10
Teaching course	8
Presentation	8

Two of the top four distribution methods (e-mail and website) require electronic versions of the information resources or products, and two (distribution at events and mail-outs) require paper versions. This suggests that it is still necessary to produce both electronic and paper versions of resources. Information emerged during interviews further support this idea. One reason for this is lack of access to technology. One organization noted:

"There's such interest in the original copy of the fact sheet and the manual rather than the electronic version ... We're talking about reaching rural families who may not have access to technology to download a copy of even read it online."

Another organization highlighted the various ways that paper versions can be used:

"We submitted a set to each executive and the stakeholders but they have requested additional copies because they want to have conversations with people within their district or within their community groups. They wanted additional copies far beyond what we thought... there is an electronic copy that they can have but we're meeting with resistance. People are just not comfortable. They want the original copy in their hands."

#### Tips for resource development, promotion and distribution

- Package knowledge in different format and prepare multiple information resources to reach different audiences.
- Prepare both paper and electronic versions of information resources and products to respond to the needs of all potential users.
- Use local media to promote information resources and products; this can be a low-cost way to reach a large and diversified audience.
- An easy and inexpensive way to distribute information products and resources is to make them available at events organized by your organization and, where possible, at events, conferences, and workshops organized by others.

#### **Knowledge Transfer**

The majority (95%) of organizations that participated in our research engaged in activities to transfer their newly developed knowledge to their various audiences. From two activities identified, one was either direct (i.e., face-to-face presentations) and one was indirect (i.e., publication of information in a local newspaper or website or in a peer-reviewed journal).

#### Activities

**Presentation:** Presentations were the most common direct form of knowledge transfer. It either occurred as a stand-alone event (70%) or as part of other events such as workshops (55%), discussion meetings (48%), or training sessions (38%). The least common direct ways of presenting information were to have it as part of focus groups, information kiosks, television, radio, and theatre (8) and through webinar (3%; Table 5).

During interviews, organizations highlighted the importance of audience in knowledge transfer. Some explained how they adjusted their presentations to their audience. One organization used short skits to get information across to its audience:

"When we did the presentations to vocational training services for adults with intellectual disabilities, we had a couple of [our] members do two little skits based on stories of volunteering that people with intellectual disabilities had told [during the research]. Participants were actually thinking that maybe they'd like to volunteer... they realized that they could."

Another organization pointed to the use of plain language:

"Just from doing our work in the community, we know the importance of using plain language, of ensuring that the information we're giving is understandable, because we have pretty low literacy in the communities... we find that people are far more comfortable sitting with us as well when we're not speaking above them."

Some organizations perceived that presenting information in discussion meetings or through informal conversations could increase understanding:

"... When you're engaged in a conversation, one question leads to another and it helps to clarify understanding."

"Wherever I have those connections, I make it a point, if it's relevant, to bring forward not only [the knowledge] but the materials and the supports for people to use [the knowledge]."

Organizations also indicated the importance of meeting expectations of their audience. One organization observed that its presentation at a conference failed because they did not know what the audience wanted:

"The conference was disappointing because it was not a good match. The organizers had heard about our research and wanted to make the link between health and safety... but participants' mindsets at the conference were mostly on health, they weren't completely sold on the idea. If I were to do that again, I would make sure that the conference was more in line with the topic of the research, or even present the information a little differently."

Another organization received positive feedback because it delivered exactly what the audience wanted:

"The audience at the conference was other researchers from across Canada [...] we received very good feedback. A lot of the researchers feel disconnected from what happens

on the front lines at the community level, and they don't often see the work they do being applied, so people were really excited to hear about [the funded project] and working so closely with people in the community."

**Publication:** More than four in ten (43%) organizations published an article about their newly developed knowledge in a local newspaper or on a website; 20% published an article in a peer-reviewed publication.

Organizations chose the publications that were appropriate and accessible to their audience. One organization chose a newspaper article to reach its audience:

"We published a four-page insert in a community paper that is primarily for the residents, but it also goes out to the local city councillor and local members of legislature."

Table 5: Methods used to transfer knowledge

Knowledge Transfer Methods	% of Respondents
Presentation	
Stand-alone presentation	70
Workshop presentation	55
Presentation as part of discussion meeting	38
Presentation as part of training session or course	38
Presentation in focus groups, information kiosks, television, radio, theatre	8
Webinar	3
Publication	
Articles in local newspaper or website	43
Peer-reviewed publication	20

#### Tips for knowledge transfer

- **Keep your audience in mind**: when deciding on the most appropriate format for transferring knowledge, think about those who would use it.
- Use language that your audience will understand: For example, don't use academic or overly complex language to reach a general audience.
- **Meet the expectations of your audience:** Understand what information your audience needs and wants and then deliver that information.
- Encourage audience participation: Audiences learn more if they can participate in some way.
- Choose appropriate methods: think about means and methods that are easily accessible and familiar to your audience.

#### **Knowledge Exchange**

Knowledge exchange requires a setting in which a two-way flow of information leads to a dialogue between parties involved and creates learning opportunities for all. Near one quarter (23%) of the organizations that participated in our research reported that they did not carry out any knowledge exchange activities. This may reflect the challenges and barriers that organizations perceived and will be explained later. The remaining organizations (77%) reported four common methods: workshops, discussion meetings, training sessions and conferences or seminars.

#### **Activities**

More than half (53%) of respondents performed workshops to exchange their knowledge, 35% did discussion meetings; 28% did training sessions or courses, and conferences or seminars were used by 25% (see Table 6). The least common methods were mentoring (8%) and on-site visits (8%).

Organizations noted that workshops were an effective way to exchange information, particularly when they offer "content in a way that is engaging" and facilitate "group interaction around the content." Interaction could benefit both the knowledge developer and the audience. An organization explained it this way:

"Participants validated the information, talked about some of their experiences, and even identified a barrier that wasn't in the research, so the whole group learned some concrete ways to make the volunteer experience better for them."

One organization encouraged its workshop participants to reflect on their own experience and use their imaginations:

"I had people imagine themselves in a situation where they were planning a stewardship volunteer event or program, and then in small groups do some brainstorming about very specific tactics for engaging families. Things that came out of the research became more real when people were able to think about them with respect to their own issues [...] it got people thinking about how they could apply some of the results of the research in their own organizations."

In a discussion meeting, an organization explained how they prepared a situation in which different people came and listened to each other:

"Two generations don't often have an opportunity to sit together with open-ended discussions on a particular topic [...] so this was an opportunity to bring their ideas. Organizations talked about their issues, recruiting young people, and young people talked about their experiences [...] so it was a learning experience for everyone in the room."

In training sessions, when various perspectives were presented, the organization's program had a better outreach:

"At the end of each training session, we brought in other service providers like the police, the City of Calgary [...] to introduce our interpreters and let them talk about their experiences, so that these agencies learn about the significance of interpretation and how our programs can reach different groups."

Making a connection with real life was also used in a training course:

"... students go out into the community and work with organizations to carry out projects for them, and then write a reflective paper on the critical question: what would happen if this organization did not exist?"

Holding on-site visits was a successful way for an organization to observe the effects of their knowledge transfer and exchange:

"It's really through these site visits with six or seven pilot groups that we've observed they ways they put into action some of our tools and recommendations and how their methods of working with youth have changed. Now they're doing things like properly explaining volunteer roles and tasks, the length of commitment required, and why the organization needs youth as volunteers."

Table 6: Methods used to exchange knowledge

Knowledge Exchange Methods	% of Respondents
Workshop	53
Discussion meeting	35
Training session or course	28
Conference or seminar	25
Mentoring	8
On-site visits	8

#### Tips for knowledge exchange

- Strive for as much interaction as possible with your audience: People learn better when they can participate.
- Encourage audience reflection: Using active learning techniques, such as encouraging participants to reflect on their experiences or brainstorming increases learning and motivates people to apply what they have learned.
- **Provide opportunities for participants to be heard:** This is particularly important when you are bringing together participants who do not normally interact with each other.
- **Provide participants with various perspectives:** This can broaden and deepen participants' understanding of the information being presented and is particularly effective in training sessions.
- Real-life experience: To complete training sessions and courses, make connection to real situations and let trainees earn various experiences and knowledge and then exchange them.

#### Outcomes of Knowledge Transfer and Exchange

Outcomes of knowledge transfer and exchange activities are mainly changes that occur in audience and could be attributed to an activity. Some outcomes may present right after the activity and some may be gradual and take longer to be observed. Being familiar with the types of knowledge transfer and exchange outcomes can better demonstrate the effectiveness of these efforts and what should be expected from them.

The organizations that participated in our research reported a number of positive outcomes that they believed resulted from their knowledge transfer and exchange activities. Some of these outcomes,

such as increased awareness of an issue, changed motivations and attitudes, or increased demand for knowledge, were observed almost immediately. Others, such as increased volunteerism and improved practices, were more long-term. Collaboration was a positive outcome that was observed both during and quite after an activity.

**Increased Awareness:** Knowledge transfer and exchange can increase the audience awareness of a specific issue. One of the organizations that participated in our research reported that a presentation it did led to increased awareness about potential new sources of volunteers:

"... There was one organization that worked in heritage and said, 'we never thought about asking young people to volunteer. We always thought heritage meant old,' and brought the old people in. And there were actually some young people who were interested in what they were doing. They actually made a connection, and I believe the young people went to volunteer for that organization."

Another organization said that it had observed increased awareness of the volunteer opportunities available in the community:

"It was startling when we were doing presentations; you'd talk to somebody and they might not be aware of volunteer opportunities, which was the reason for putting Volunteer Connections in place. Once people got in there, they learned a lot more about what was available in their communities."

**Changed Motivation:** Knowledge transfer and exchange can lead to changes in participants' emotions and motivations. A presentation by one organization got youth excited about volunteering and contributing to their community:

"[A]s a part of being involved in the initiative, [the students] built resumes, so the young people who participated in the information sessions really got excited about volunteering and they come in for volunteering in school. They actually have a quote by one person who attended one of the focus groups, 'I want to make a difference in my community,' so the young people really got a lot out of this."

**Changed Attitudes:** Knowledge transfer and exchange can often change participants' attitudes. One organization reported that, after a presentation, individuals with intellectual disabilities started to think of volunteering as something they should try rather than something they could not do:

"I think [after the presentation] people there [with intellectual disabilities] were actually thinking that maybe they'd like to volunteer. I think [before] some didn't think they could."

Another organization reported that, as a result of a workshop it held, staff members at a correctional facility who had previously thought that volunteering did not hold much value for inmates began to change their minds:

"A lot of the staff in the prison didn't even consider volunteering as important for an inmate to do. But I know from their comments that now they're looking at that differently. They learned about supervising, meeting, and supporting ex-offenders when they go into the community to volunteer and now they're thinking, 'Maybe I should encourage them to look for volunteer opportunities so that they can spend their time more productively.'"

**Increased Demand for Knowledge:** Successful knowledge transfer often results in increased demand for information resources and products:

"I've received excellent feedback; I've actually been invited back to several sessions to do a follow-up."

"People are still calling our toll free phone line, [...] and since this project ended, we've gotten over 15,000 visits to that section of the website alone, so we averaged about 750 a month."

Many organizations reported receiving requests for continued research and for the development of new resources to support ongoing learning:

"The feedback has all been quite positive; people would like to see more workshops in the communities. They would like to learn more facilitator skills and they would like to take training."

"... The biggest thing that I took from it was that they were hoping there would be a part two to this, where we could take them up one level. They thought this was great, but that there was still more for them to learn."

**Collaboration:** Knowledge transfer and exchange can lead to collaboration between and among organizations and individuals. This can take the form of pooling of funding, collaborating on a project, or simply drawing on each others' experiences or needs:

"When I was at the conference in St. Johns, I met up with someone who is involved with sport and recreation ... and she said that having this [Conference] would be really important because she could see a partnering and sort of a sharing of the funding... She was really excited to be able to be doing her networking and linking."

"There's also a couple of what they call 'community stars' there; they keep it going and usually have volunteers that are willing to work with them. In the last year or so, if I need volunteers, I know who to phone in the communities because of those workshops."

**Increased Volunteerism:** Increased awareness and changed motivations and attitudes are immediate outcomes that can lead to changes in behaviour and, ultimately, an increase in volunteerism:

"We printed articles in our bilingual community newsletter, in local Chinese newspapers, as well as talked on the radio to promote our new resource and our training. Through these, we recruited quite a number of volunteers who actually told us they had never heard about resources for people who face domestic violence before. So they are themselves empowered... Many volunteers then became co-facilitators for other training sessions. So they became very dedicated to our agency and that is how our project has evolved. The first year, we trained around 20 interpreters. After that, we have kept up with the training and have trained 10 interpreters each time. Before the training we could only help around 60 people a year. Now, we have done 300 or so interpretations in the last year already."

**Improved Practices:** Translating knowledge into practice and changing the way organizations do things was identified as the most desirable outcome of knowledge transfer and exchange<sup>9</sup>. One funded organization reported that it was able to show its audience how to improve its events:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See F., Zarinpoush, S., Von Sychowski, & J. Sperling (2007), *Effective Knowledge Transfer and Exchange: A Framework*, for more details.

"...There was one organization that came away from that workshop thinking that they were going to really try and make their next big stewardship event as a family-focused event, taking some of the concrete examples [we provided]."

Another organization observed participants making changes to how they worked and making use of the tools or frameworks it had provided:

"One leader told me that she used to recruit youth without properly explaining what the task involved or why the organization needed youth volunteers. Now she used [our] framework to highlight proper issues when recruiting youth... And youth are participating more because they feel more respected and supported in their volunteering."

The organizations that participated in our research did not use their newly developed knowledge solely to help other organizations and individuals. The majority (80%) of organizations also used their newly developed knowledge for their own purposes, such as:

- to increase awareness of their organization;
- to recruit volunteers and improve volunteer retention;
- to train volunteers and/or staff;
- to prepare an action plan;
- to identify the organization's needs and improve their infrastructures;
- as a basis for follow-up and/or future research;
- in discussions, consultations, workshops, reports, and proposals;
- to organize new events (e.g., flagship events);
- to apply for grants and leverage more funding; and
- as teaching materials, required reading, or part of a postsecondary curriculum.

# Challenges in Knowledge Transfer and Exchange

The organizations that participated in our research encountered three main challenges in carrying out knowledge transfer and exchange: lack of feedback and follow-up mechanisms, lack of time, and inadequate opportunities for long-term funding.

Lack of Feedback and Follow-up Mechanisms: Gathering feedback and following up on knowledge transfer and exchange is important if organizations are to gauge the extent to which their knowledge were useful to their audiences. During interviews, few organizations mentioned they were able to measure impact formally by counting website hits, making follow-up phone calls to participants, or follow-up visits with participants. Most, however, said that lack of financial and/or human resources had prevented them from setting up mechanisms to gather feedback or do follow-up:

"One of the challenges is that we know a function certainly had value but we just don't have the resources to be able to go back two months later and say, 'What have you actually seen? Other than a couple of things that I heard anecdotally we don't have any good numbers."

"This project is an example of where we wanted to create these tools, we wanted to create this course, and our energy went into that and promoting it as best we could, but there weren't enough resources left to really do any sort of critical analysis about the impact or to really effectively learn from what they've done... [The biggest challenge] is ... how you would even measure these kinds of outcomes."

Many organizations relied on informal anecdotal feedback. For example, one organization received feedback as a result of ongoing relationships with their audience:

"I certainly got informal, verbal feedback. That's not to say that we didn't have an impact, it's just that we haven't had direct discussions. [...] We're looking at better ways of providing more concrete documentation and evaluation of the results of our projects. But we do hear from groups anecdotally because of our ongoing relationships."

**Lack of Time:** Many organizations simply did not have enough time to organize and coordinate knowledge transfer or exchange activities or to improve the quality of information they were able to present to their audiences. One organization reported that it takes time to find the right conferences or meetings at which to present the newly developed knowledge and to write proposals:

"It's not so much that people don't want to hear, it's actually arranging the time to get them to hear, ... for example, submitting a description of what you want to do in a workshop or a regional conference. The opportunity to do that needs to present itself, we need time to go out and hunt it up. That's the major drawback."

It was also a challenge for people to find the time to attend meetings, presentations, or workshops:

"People's time [is a big] factor... trying to get people in one place at one time."

"The challenge is the timing; trying to find a date that the most people can attend."

Lack of time also has an effect on the amount and quality of information that knowledge developers can present to their audiences. One organization explained it this way:

"Some of these things you can't do in a 10-minute sound bite ... In order to prevent dumping unneeded bits of information on people, to understand this issue, and to move thinking requires not [only] my presentation time but [the audience's] processing time to get their head around that. You can't do that in 60 minutes, 90 is frankly a bare minimum, three hours is a really good time, and a full day is a joy."

"There is a time barrier. With more time probably one could do follow-ups with groups and say, 'OK, you've had a chance to read this, now let's do some action planning on how you might behave differently here and what things you could learn from this.' All those things would be useful, but that's not something that could be done right now [...] because it wasn't built into the [funding] contract."

**Lack of Long-Term Funding:** The issue of funding was raised by many organizations as a perennial challenge to conduct any knowledge transfer and exchange activities. In particular, they found it difficult to create sustainable programs when the funding was typically given for isolated short-term projects.

"... getting the results, or at least getting the model into other organizations has not been very successful, mainly because of lack of resources to do that. We often get funding for one-time-only time-limited pieces and building sustainability into all of those pieces is very difficult."

As mentioned earlier, lack of funding often limits an organization's capacity to follow up and monitor the impact of its knowledge transfer and exchange activities. This in turn jeopardizes an organization's ability to tailor its resources to the needs of the intended users. One organization noted that it could have been done with longer-term funding:

"... Instead of just ending [our project], we'd build a portion that would be follow-up just to work with [our participants], even if we went around six or eight months later and contacted them and said, 'where are we at today? And how is it working for you?'"

Finally, some organizations mentioned that long-term funding was essential for making sure that information resources and products are used and will continue to be up-to-date and relevant:

"Consistency is definitely important for successful knowledge transfer. When the funding ended for this project, the aquarium granted two months of bridge funding because we knew that we had a good thing going [...]. I think if this project had ended, we may well have simply developed a whole series of dust collectors."

#### Conclusion

The nonprofit organizations that participated in this study carried out various activities and had some tips on how to do them effectively. We reported these activities and results in three groups:

- Group One: activities to create conditions for knowledge transfer and exchange were highly
  reported by organizations. Developing multiple resources, use of local media for promotion
  and use of other events for distribution were common and identified as easy low-cost
  mechanisms. Preparing both paper and electronic versions of resources enabled
  organizations to respond to the needs of many potential users.
- Group Two: activities to transfer knowledge were also reported by almost all organizations.
  The most common activity was to have a stand-alone face-to-face presentation.
  Organizations found presentations to be effective when they made the effort to know the audience and understand their needs and expectations. Most of the tips organizations suggested for effective knowledge transfer were about knowing the audience
- Group Three: among activities to create a setting for knowledge exchange, workshops were highly used. Workshops reported to be effective when the content is engaging and create group interactions and include exercises that reflect on the participants' experiences. Discussion meetings could create opportunities for different voices to be heard and training sessions presented different perspectives and real-life examples. Among all activities grouped here, workshop seems to be the most familiar one that nonprofit organizations are confident to organize and deliver it. The suggested tips on conducting knowledge exchange were mainly about creating an environment conducive to audience engagement.

The use of some delivery methods was rare by the participated organizations. Webcast and webinar were hardly reported despite their growing market in general. Also, our study could not properly capture the benefits and effectiveness of on-site visits and mentoring because they hardly employed.

Organizations were most likely to report immediate outcomes that were observed at the knowledge transfer or exchange activities or shortly thereafter. For example, some of the immediately observed outcomes included increased awareness, changed motivations and attitudes, and increased demand for knowledge. The outcomes that took longer to appear were increased volunteerism and improved practices. Collaboration was a particular outcome that was perceived both during or right after an activity as well as in the future activities of organizations.

The findings of our study suggest that once knowledge is developed, there are great opportunities to use it inside the organization to improve practices such as volunteer management, programming and

planning. The organizations were able to list a wide variety of ways they used the knowledge they gained. Although organizations provided some examples of external use of knowledge and its effects, the information was less and anecdotal since the most of organizations did not have financial and human resources to establish a systematic way of following up with their audience and identifying the external use and effects of their knowledge. This resulted in gathering informal anecdotal feedback to be a common way, which points to the great amount of qualitative data that exist in the sector. This also suggests that nonprofit organizations need to develop skills to manage and analyse qualitative information in order to use that information for planning and decision making.

Lack of time and longer financial support to better plan and perform activities are other barriers of knowledge transfer and exchange in the sector. These barriers limited organizations to properly train their audience to apply the newly developed knowledge. These barriers particularly affect activities related to knowledge exchange, since exchanging knowledge occurs through a process and requires follow-up mechanisms, time, and financial support to communicate with the audience, gather feedback, train the users, and observe changes in practices.

# Case Studies of Knowledge Transfer & Exchange

This section highlights the activities of five organizations in their own language. These cases, while echoing some findings of our study, offer a number of insights into successful knowledge transfer and exchange that may be helpful to other voluntary organizations, community groups, and other interested stakeholders.

#### Case One: Make Connections

In 2004-2005, the Community Services Council of Newfoundland and Labrador received funding from the Community Support Centre to conduct a pilot and demonstration project to help link voluntary organizations through technology. This case shows how promotion and making connections can increase the effectiveness of knowledge transfer and exchange.

Volunteer Connections, which received funding through the Community Support Centre, helped improve enVision.ca's online volunteer [bulletin] board so that users from around the province could post and find volunteer opportunities more easily. CSC took an exciting "high tech, high touch" approach that combined in-person telephone support with available online resources. In addition to the website, volunteers were available, via a toll-free number, to help organizations and individuals with volunteer postings.

Promotion and marketing ranged from a media launch through CTV's local affiliate, to ads that ran at local theatres, to more traditional means such as bookmarks and flyers. There were also students doing outreach work to organizations and communities around the province.

In the first year, Volunteer Connections received about 6,000 visits, and there have been more than 15,000 visits to that section of the website since the project was completed. Volunteer postings continue and the toll-free line still receives calls, which speaks to an effective campaign. Organizations have reported successful recruitment of volunteers as a direct result of Volunteer Connections. One organization got so many calls, they asked for the volunteer opportunity to be taken down shortly after posting.

This experience shows that what works well is getting out there and meeting with people, doing things at a local level, getting resources on the ground. Combined with technology, volunteers and organization staff have the opportunity to acknowledge and learn from each other, and stay connected. The "high touch, high tech" method could build the capacity of the voluntary sector in a meaningful way.

# Case Two: Package Knowledge in Different Format

In 2005-2006, Saskatchewan's Riverside Community School Association received funding from the Knowledge Development Centre to examine the motivations of school-based female volunteers (including Aboriginal, non-Aboriginal, and Métis women) in low-income communities, the benefits of involving these women as volunteers, and the challenges associated with such a program. This case demonstrates the value of adapting and translating new knowledge into variety of accessible

and user-friendly information resources and products and shows how to use resources for effective knowledge transfer.

We have a very active volunteer program that involves not just parents but community members in the life of the school. Our study identified barriers to participation of women and what components had to be present for them to be involved in volunteerism in an inner city situation.

We presented the report at a conference with researchers from across Canada and got very good feedback especially because a lot of them felt disconnected from what happens on the front lines at the community level, so they were really excited to hear about [the researcher] working so closely with people in the community.

On the other hand, we wanted to show those are not just things on paper, that the components for parent and community involvement are what we live every day. So we produced a DVD with the help of one of the teachers where the women touch on the different areas of a successful volunteer program [...] like how to make a program welcoming, how to work with the basic needs of the people who are there and other needs like educational and their needs for employment, and for being engaged as volunteers in the community in a meaningful way. [...] They actually tell their stories, why they're here, what keeps them here, what's necessary. We wanted to make it as authentic as possible so that when other community schools look at it they can take the information and apply it, or incorporate it into their own situations, without us having to come along to teach it.

We had another conference or gathering with about 130 people: school staff, community members, and other agencies with similar mandates [...] where they met the volunteers here at our school, had a meal that was made by them, and viewed the DVD. Then the researcher talked about some of the findings, and we broke into sessions to talk about how people could use the information in their own organizations or volunteer practice.

People were raving about the DVD itself. They loved the format and that it's done through the stories that came from the volunteers, their words, their experiences. The parents and community members were saying, "Hey, they can do it, so can we." [...] There was a lot of talk about replicating the success they were seeing in this school. We received some feedback from a brand new coordinator that was here the day of the gathering – she showed the video at their school and it's already being used by their parent council to develop a volunteer program.

In our own school, we used the DVD to actually train staff in what community education is all about. They were very surprised at how much is happening – and the quality of the volunteer work – right here in the school, so it was really beneficial for them to see it. We also host a learner's support group through a literacy network and use the video as a way to help alleviate people's fears about volunteering. [...]

It's taken us awhile to come up with the right tools and to be able to disseminate it. We learned that it's really effective to be able to do it on two fronts – the more academic front and then the hands-on front that is user-friendly. [...] Having the research itself as a resource and having the DVD as a resource really complement each other. The research gives validity for what we're doing to a group of administrators and government representatives in a way the DVD doesn't. The DVD is something we can give directly to other organizations for them to see what is happening, it speaks to them in a way that the

research wouldn't. We used an approach that covers more than one area because there's a contingency of folks who are really diverse in how they access the information, or their reasons for wanting to know about it.

#### Case Three: Engage Your Audience

In 2005-2006, the John Howard Society of Moncton, New Brunswick, received funding from the Knowledge Development Centre to identify promising practices for supporting the recruitment and placement of former offenders as peer-volunteers in community-based rehabilitation programs. This case reinforces the importance of knowing the audience and planning interactive activities to successfully transfer and exchange knowledge.

Our agency is involved in carrying out research on a regular basis with local universities, and we feel it's really important that the information gets disseminated in a way that is relevant to the sector. [In this project], we were very specific about who we thought should receive the information. I knew from my work in this field that there's not a lot of time, attention, or resources put to unit managers who take care of volunteers in the prison system, even though community involvement is part of Corrections Canada's mission statement. I'd heard about the frustrations from volunteer managers around lack of resources and support. So I knew they needed the information and the support. [...]

The audience for the workshop was volunteer managers or volunteer supervisors from the prisons. There are five federal prisons in our region, and each one has one or two individuals who are responsible for managing volunteers and/or inmates who volunteer. They have a dual role: managing volunteers from the community who come into the prison and working with inmates who are preparing to go back into the community.

In the workshop, we had planned to break out into small group discussions but it ended up being more of an interactive workshop with all participants jumping in whenever they had questions or comments, or wanted to discuss an issue further. I sensed from their comments that a lot of the workshop participants didn't consider volunteering as important for an inmate to do. But I know from their comments as the workshop unfolded that now they're looking at that differently. I heard comments such as "Maybe I should encourage them to look for volunteer opportunities so that they can spend their time more productively," and "Maybe I should be encouraging volunteer activities when an inmate does an [escorted temporary absence]." They learned things they didn't know about supervising, giving feedback, and supporting ex-offenders when they go into the community to volunteer. And they left the workshop with some arguments to build a case for support for the inmate, and feeling more knowledgeable in approaching a community agency about having an inmate volunteer.

The prison staff also expressed how very grateful they were to have had the opportunity to get together and exchange information with their peers. During the workshop, they were able to learn from each other, to hear how their colleagues had dealt with the same frustrations, challenges, processes, etc. One of the things they said was that being able to share this information and talk to each other helped them to put the risk part of the job that hangs over their heads into perspective along with the benefits of encouraging an inmate to volunteer, to look out for things that they might not have thought about before. [...] So the workshop really opened their eyes to a whole bunch of possibilities and I think they felt just

a little rejuvenated, a little inspired to encourage volunteerism and also reminded them to give more attention to the volunteers that they have.

As a result of the discussions we had during the workshop, I offered to send a copy of the report to each of the wardens so that when the volunteer managers went to talk to them, which they said they planned to do, the warden would have information from the outside and inside, which would hopefully reinforce the notion that more resources need to be set aside for to volunteer management-There may even be an opportunity to take this workshop to other regions in Canada in the new fiscal year, which is very exciting.

The activities we undertook in regards to dissemination of the research just confirmed [the importance of] reporting the findings in a way that is useful to the consumer. [...] [The researcher] who worked with us wanted to a research report and I had to remind him, "If you just gave me an academic report, as a nonprofit director, I wouldn't use it, I couldn't use it – I wouldn't have the time to sift through it and use the information in a practical way. So we don't need to produce a research report. We've got to produce something that nonprofits can and will easily use. The interactive workshop format proved to be very relevant and effective in disseminating the findings from our research.

#### Case Four: Use Knowledge to Expand Volunteerism

In 2004-2005, the Chinese Community Service Association of Calgary, Alberta, conducted a pilot and demonstration project with funding from the Community Support Centre to promote volunteerism within the Chinese community by developing a volunteer interpreter training program. As their experience shows, knowledge transfer and exchange – in this case, developing and publicizing a manual and training on sexual abuse – resulted in more and better-trained volunteers who are dedicated to the organization and help to expand its capacity to offer services. This project achieved positive outcomes, although unexpectedly, when they evolved awareness, addressed a need, and equipped users to implement the knowledge they learned.

During the project, we trained our own volunteers, and those from partner agencies like Calgary Community Against Sexual Abuse, on interpretation skills and techniques specifically in the area of domestic violence. We had several objectives: to fill the capacity of our volunteers so they become good interpreters in cases of domestic violence, and through this they are empowered; to fill the capacity of other agencies who want to be more culturally sensitive, who want to increase their diversity; and because domestic violence is such a taboo area, we wanted people to start talking about it.

We printed articles in our bilingual community newsletter, in local Chinese newspapers, and talked on the radio to promote our new manual and our training. We found these are the most effective means to promote because they are free and people can access this very easily. We received lots of inquiries from people who told us they had never heard about resources on domestic violence and also got calls from people who needed interpreters. The first year, we trained around 20 volunteers.

The training is several sessions, actually several days. First we do an orientation, talk about volunteering, and what is required or expected for a volunteer. Then a trainer or a specialist will present on the interpretation part around the law, medical terminology, and resources, and also self-care. This is followed by discussion and activities like role-play, so there is lots of practice. At the end, kind of like graduation night, we bring in other service

providers like the police, the City of Calgary and so on, to introduce our interpreters and let them talk about their experiences. They network and learn about the significance of interpretation and how our programs can reach different groups. [...]

When we started, I did not expect such a good response, because domestic violence is quite a taboo area and because Chinese people do not talk about violence. After the project, we identified there was a need so we continued training, and each time have trained about 10 interpreters. Some of the initial volunteers became co-facilitators and then afterwards headed up the program, so that is how our project evolved. [...] They became very dedicated to our agency. Some of them told me that they have been in Calgary for a long time, like more than 10 years, but that they had never volunteered before. A few even found they have an interest in the area and have applied this to go further in their own studies, like law.

We have received a case from the police requesting our interpreters' assistance. We were also asked by an agency working with people with disabilities to train their facilitators. And we linked up with another organization, the Calgary Chinese Senior Citizens Association, to train their volunteers. Before the training, we could only help around 60 something people a year. In the last year we have done 300 and something interpretations already.

#### Case Five: Use the Feedback

The Vancouver Aquarium Marine Science Centre received funding from the Community Support Centre to conduct a one-year (2003-2004) pilot and demonstration project on how to involve and manage youth as volunteers in environmental stewardship. Their case shows that listening to feedback can affect future knowledge transfer activities as well as an organization's internal use of knowledge.

The CVI pilot project was a structured program providing field training in environmental action for high school students mandated to complete 40 hours of community service in order to graduate. The Aquarium has had a youth volunteer program since 1996, but this project allowed us to focus attention on a key area of our mission: direct action. [...]

Through the project we received feedback from the participants that the youth had a number of their own conservation action ideas and needed support to make them happen. As the Stewardship project ended it morphed into a program called ACT [Aquatic Conservation Team] that runs yearly from September to May (Since its inception 16 high schools and 75 students from the Lower Mainland have participated and this year our first school from the Interior of the province is on board). We receive applications from youth on conservation projects they want to do, and on an annual basis support about 30 students in creating and delivering projects and peer education within their own communities.

Experimenting with different ways of involving youth, [...] along with the fact that we saw youth had the ability to mentor their peers and the feedback from the kids about wanting to get more involved was the foundation piece that said to my organization 'this is valid'. It confirmed to the senior management that we can make an impact using a new volunteer management strategies and that tapping into environmental action with youth is an unlimited potential resource for volunteerism and community action

We were able to use the CVI stewardship program as a springboard to a new program led by the same coordinator, ensuring continuity of knowledge and relationships. Instead of developing a whole series of dust collectors from the Stewardship for Youth project we were able to morph it into an new volunteer experience and continue to make the results of the CVI project living, valuable documents, information, and experience. Much of the ACT program was designed and redesigned over the years based on feedback from the participants

The resources developed during the pilot project – recruitment and screening tools, tip sheet and manual – have come together as a toolkit for ACT. The youth take the materials away with examples of successful environmental teacher/action/youth experiences and it helps give them a goal and some resources for their own work. We continue to use the survey form as an evaluation tool to find out how things are going in each community.

[...] Two other really interesting things for us working from the pilot project to ACT today is first, it's pushed us to take a look at our own organization and make sure we're representing the calibre of conservation talk and action that we're demanding from the youth (for example, using recyclable paper, biodegradable plates, etc.). Secondly, it forced us to examine the reliance on old formats for transferring knowledge and encourage that sort of shift in thinking that we want. The youth have been a big driving force around more extensive use of our website... we're talking about a group that gets most of their communication through technology so our team has been thinking about how we can start doing things differently in terms of text messaging, e-mailing conservation tips, or creating a youth driven webpage that links to our own web page so that they can have an intranet around ideas and action and change.

Without the feedback from the CVI pilot participants and the willingness of the Aquarium to experiment with new ways of involving youth, the ACT program would not exist. The most significant lesson learned is the value of feedback and communication in program design and development. We look forward to the ACT program continuing to grow in size, scope and impact.

# Appendix A: Survey of CVI previously funded projects

2.	Title of	of the funded organization: f the funded project: e of the funded project:
4.	Please you did	of the following information resources or other products did your project produce? indicate it by entering the number of products for each category. Leave it blank it d not produce any. (Check all that apply)  RMATION RESOURCE OR OTHER PRODUCT QUANTITY=
		Research report
		Fact sheet
		Tip sheet
		Workshop materials
		Tool kit
		Manual, handbook, or guide
		Peer-reviewed articles
		Database or map
		Forms and screening tools
		Surveys and questionnaires
		Training materials
		Theatre production
		Video and software
		Website and telephone lines
		Other (please specify):
inf	ormatic	ext set of questions, please think about the ways that you have made the on resources or other products developed through your project accessible, and ERS CAME TO YOU.
5.		id you make the information resources or products of your project accessible?  Website  Email  Phone line  Mail outs  Distribute them in an event  Other (please specify):
6.	stakeh	id you <b>promote</b> the information resources or products of your project to let your olders know about them? (Check all that apply)  Media release  Webcast

informa		for the purpose of presenting the developed? Please indicate it by entering the blank if you did not do any. (Check all the
	Peer-reviewed publication	How many?
	Articles in local newspaper or magazine	How many?
	Webinar	How many?
	Presentation	How many?
	Training session	How many?
	Conference or seminar	How many?
	Workshop	How many?
	Discussion meeting	How many?
	Other (please specify):	How many?
gained enterin	, ,	for the purpose of exchanging your edge and experiences? Please indicate it by yory. Leave it blank if you did not do any.  How many?
	Training session	How many?
	Conference or seminar	How many?
	Workshop	How many?
	Discussion meeting	How many?
	Other (please specify):	How many?
relate t them?	he information resources or products of	for the purpose of <b>encouraging users to</b> your project to their practices and implementer of activities for each category. Leave it y) How many?
	Workshop	How many?
	Mentoring	How many?
	Discussion meeting	How many?
	On-site visits	How many?
	Other (please specify):	How many?
(e.g., <b>d</b> □	her, how many users do you estimate yo isseminating, presenting, and sharing None 1-99 100-499	ou have reached through these activities <b>g</b> )?

Knowledge Tra	nsfer and Exchange Among Nonprofit Organizations
	500 or more Don't know
	u receive any feedback about your information resource or product?  Yes – If yes, please provide examples:  A positive feedback received:  A negative feedback received:  No
	the information resources or products been used by your own organization?  Yes – If yes, please tell us how?  No
	you used what you learned during this project in other projects?  Yes – If yes, please tell us how?  No
	y of these activities occur <b>while the project was underway?</b> Yes No
	y of these activities occur <b>after the project ended</b> ? Yes No
	u conduct any follow-up work/research/project? Yes – If yes, please name them:

□ No

Imagine Canada, 2007 32

# Appendix B: Interview guide for CVI previously funded projects

In the questionnaire, you identified the ways you have used or shared the information resources or products your project developed. Now I'd like to ask you a few questions on each activity.

- 1. For the (name the activity):
  - a. Did you have a specific audience? Who was your audience?
  - b. How active were the participants? (any examples, stories)
  - c. What did the audience learn/take away from this (name the activity)?
  - d. What, if anything, did you learn/take away from this (name the activity)?
  - e. Did you receive any feedback? How? When (during the event or after)?
  - f. What positive feedback did you receive? What negative feedback, if any, did you receive?
  - g. Did anything surprise you (i.e., unexpected results/effects)?
- 2. What prompted you to conduct (name the activity)? PROBE:
  - in the work plan to funders
  - demand from users
  - received more funding to do so
  - part of the organization's culture
- 3. What was the purpose of doing (name the activity)? What had you hoped to achieve?
- 4. To what extent did you succeed? FOLLOW-UP:
- - a. What evidence do you have of your success?
- 5. Did you observe any changes in knowledge, skills, or behaviour of the participants as a result of your knowledge transfer activities?
- 6. Think back to all activities you did to transfer the information resource or product of your project and name one that in your opinion was the best. What made it so good? FOLLOW-UP:
  - a. From your experience, what activity has proven most effective to promote your resource? Why?
  - b. From your experience, what activity has proven most effective to deliver the information resource or product your project developed into the hands of potential users? Why?
  - c. From your experience, what activity has proven most effective to encourage users to implement the information resource or product you developed into their work? Why?

7. Now, think back to an activity where you shared the information resource or product your project developed that you felt was particularly disappointing. What made it disappointing? What went wrong?

FOLLOW-UP:

- a. If you were to conduct this activity again, what would you do differently?
- 8. In the questionnaire, you mentioned that you did a follow-up work/study on ... tell me about it.
- 9. What are some of the challenges or barriers you have faced conducting knowledge transfer?
- 10. What are the three things you have learned about knowledge transfer from doing these activities?
- 11. What advice would you give other voluntary organizations that want to engage in knowledge transfer?
- 12. What is your favourite knowledge transfer activity? (i.e., you feel comfortable and confident to do it.)

That covers everything I wanted to ask you. Is there anything you'd like to add?